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Judge Corchado filed a concurring opinion, in which Judge Royce joined. Judge
Brown filed a separate opinion concurring, in part with the majority opinion, and
dissenting, in part.

DECISION AND ORDER OF REMAND

This case arises under Section 806, the employee protection provision, of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX) and its implementing regulations. 18 U.S.C.A. §
1514A (Thomson/West 2010); 29 C.F.R. Part 1980 (2009). Kathy J. Sylvester and
Theresa Neuschafer (Complainants) each filed a complaint with the United States
Department of Labor’s Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), alleging
that Parexel International LLC (Parexel) violated the SOX by discharging each of them in
retaliation for engaging in SOX-protected activities. Parexel moved to dismiss for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure (Fed. R. Civ. P.)
12(b)(1), and for failure to state a claim under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). On August 31,
2007, a Labor Department Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) dismissed the Complainants’
claims on the grounds that their OSHA complaints failed to establish subject matter
jurisdiction under the SOX because those complaints failed to allege activity protected by
SOX Section 806.

This appeal presents several interrelated issues. Called into question is the
propriety of the ALJ’s dismissal of the Sylvester and Neuschafer complaints pursuant to
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1), and numerous issues concerning the requirements necessary to
establish whistleblower protected activity under SOX Section 806. For the following

! Judge Wayne C. Beyer was a member of Administrative Review Board when the

Complainants filed their appeals, but his term had ended when the case was argued and the
ensuing en banc deliberations began. Judge Lisa Wilson Edwards joined the Board after the
Board held oral argument, and she did not participate in the disposition of this case.
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reasons, the Board, presiding en banc, concludes that the ALJ clearly had subject matter
jurisdiction over the Complainants’ SOX complaints, and that the ALJ committed
reversible error on several grounds in concluding that the Complainants failed to establish
their claims that they engaged in SOX-protected whistleblower activity prior to their
discharge. Accordingly, we reverse the ALJ’s decision and remand the case for further
proceedings consistent with this Decision.

BACKGROUND

The following facts presented in the complaints are accepted as true for purposes
of our review of the ALJ’s order granting Parexel’s Motions to Dismiss. Parexel is a
publicly-traded company that tests drugs for drug manufacturers and other clients. It
operates a research facility to test drugs at Harbor Hospital in Baltimore, Maryland (the
Baltimore Unit). Parexel performs these tests on behalf of drug manufacturers such as
AstraZeneca, Advanced Magnetics, and Procter & Gamble. Parexel has reported to its
shareholders the financial importance of its contracts with those manufacturers. Those
contractual relationships involve significant credit obligations by Parexel, and they play a
major role in determining Parexel’s annual revenues. Sylvester Complaint q 33-34;
Neuschafer Complaint f 36-37. Parexel contracts allow clients to terminate their
contracts with Parexel upon 30 to 60 days notice. Sylvester Complaint q 23; Neuschafer
Complaint | 27, 41.

Sylvester worked for Parexel as a Case Report Forms Department Manager in the
Baltimore Unit. She began working for Parexel in September 2003. Sylvester Complaint
9 4. Her responsibilities included “the accurate reporting of data and related research
results from clinical studies conducted by Parexel pursuant to the law and regulations
promulgated by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA).” Sylvester
Complaint § 7. It was her responsibility to ensure that such data adhered to the FDA’s
“Good Clinical Practice” (GCP) standards.

The purpose of GCP is to “provide a unified standard for designing, conducting,
recording, and reporting trials that involve human subjects. GCP describes the essential
regulatory documents that individually and collectively permit evaluation of the conduct
of a clinical study and the quality of the data produced.” Sylvester Complaint | 7.
Parexel has consistently reported to its shareholders that it strictly adheres to GCP.
Sylvester Complaint q 19; Neuschafer Complaint [ 23, 36.

Parexel employed Neuschafer as a Clinical Research Nurse in the Baltimore Unit
beginning in August 2004. In this capacity, she was responsible for reporting accurate
clinical data. Neuschafer was known by her co-workers to be unwilling to engage in
false reporting or other conduct in violation of GCP. These co-workers used derisive
terms to describe her adherence to GCP, such as referring to her as the ‘“Parexel police.”
Neuschafer Complaint q 9. Neuschafer’s coworkers considered her to be a close friend of
Kathy Sylvester. Neuschafer Complaint q 7.
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On March 15, 2006, Neuschafer reviewed the charts of four subjects participating
in a study Parexel was conducting for the drug manufacturer AstraZeneca. She
concluded that “the Neuro-cognitive testing time points were not completed on each
subject’s chart.” Neuschafer Complaint J 11. Neuschafer brought these omissions to the
attention of Karen Smith, Mary Ann Green, and Ramona Setherly, three other Parexel
employees working on the AstraZeneca study. According to Neuschafer, “[t]he
AstraZeneca study is a major source of revenue for Parexel.” Neuschafer Complaint q
22.

Smith responded to Neuschafer’s concern by inserting the then-current time into
the charts’ time points. Neuschafer considered this act to constitute the reporting of false
clinical data, and a GCP violation, because the time entries did not reflect the time at
which the tests had been performed. Neuschafer Complaint  12. Neuschafer next spoke
to Meimpie Fourie, Clinical Research Coordinator/Manager and coordinator of the
AstraZeneca study. She told Fourie that Smith and Green “were reporting false clinical
data.” Neuschafer Complaint | 14. Fourie told her not to worry about the falsifications
because it was “no big deal.” Id.

Sylvester had observed the exchange between Neuschafer and Smith on March
15. On or about March 16, 2006, Sylvester reported to Fourie and Elizabeth Jones, a
Nurse Manager (and supervisor), that Smith and Green had “report[ed] false clinical data,
in violation of the FDA regulated GCP by falsely recording the time points at which
Neuro-cognitive testing was performed by clinical subjects at designated times when in
fact these times were manufactured and not accurate as to when true testing was
performed.” Sylvester Complaint q 13.

Following Sylvester’s and Neuschafer’s accusations, Green verbally and
physically assaulted Neuschafer on March 19, 2006. According to Sylvester, she was
blamed for Green’s attack on Neuschafer. Parexel issued letters of warning to Sylvester
and Neuschafer on March 21, 2006. Sylvester Complaint, J 27; Neuschafer Complaint, q
31. Sylvester “protested to management” that her letter was issued in retaliation for
reporting the fraudulent research data and GCP violations by Smith and Green. Sylvester
Complaint [ 28-29.

On or about May 26, 2006, Sylvester told Jones that Smith had engaged in
another GCP violation. = She alleged that Smith had fraudulently documented
Pharmacokinetic (PK) blood sample time points for samples drawn from subjects
involved in tests for Advanced Magnetics, AstraZeneca, and Proctor & Gamble.
Sylvester Complaint  31.> According to Sylvester, “[ilf the PK samples are drawn at
incorrect times, or falsely reported as being drawn at a time when in fact they were not,
the analysis will be flawed and the data corrupt and inaccurate.” Sylvester Complaint q
32.

2 It is unclear from the complaints whether Neuschafer told Sylvester about Smith’s

infractions or whether she obtained this information independently.
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Sylvester and Neuschafer allege that Parexel managers chose not to investigate
their concerns:

Parexel declined to investigate its conduct as promised in
its Code of Business Ethics, correct this conduct or to
report it to appropriate parties such as the FDA and its
clients because doing so would have adversely affected the
large profit from the studies . . . . This would have
adversely affected the value of the stock, would have
caused corporate credit problems, would have contradicted
Parexel’s statements to its shareholders concerning strict
adherence to GCP and would have significantly reduced or
eliminated bonus compensation and other stock based
compensation for Parexel executives.

Sylvester Complaint q 37; Neuschafer Complaint J 26. Neuschafer states that, to the best
of her knowledge, “this false data has never been corrected and has been reported as
accurate by Parexel in communication through the U.S. mails and by wire
communications such as the Internet.” Neuschafer Complaint q 39.

Sylvester and Neuschafer state that, because they complained about the
misconduct of other Parexel employees, they were subjected to various forms of
retaliation. Sylvester indicates that she was threatened by an anonymous letter, had her
motor vehicle vandalized, and “was required to work in an atmosphere where knowing
fraud was being committed in clinical studies of drugs where such studies would later be
submitted to the U.S. government to justify the widespread prescribing and distribution of
such drugs.” Sylvester Complaint ] 40-41.

Neuschafer states that, in addition to a warning letter, she “was subjected to
continuing abuse from her co-workers.” Neuschafer Complaint J 43. She also indicates
that “[p]rior to [her] termination Ms. Jones chastised her for discussing wages with a co-
worker. She believes that this was used to fire her because Parexel needed to get rid of
her3due to her conduct protected by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.” Neuschafer Complaint q
48.

Rachel Garrido, Parexel’s Unit Director and Senior Director of Business
Operations, and Lisa Roth, Human Resources Director, discharged Sylvester on June 15,
2006. Garrido told her that “the termination decision was a ‘corporate decision’ and that

3 On January 28, 2011, the National Labor Relations Board held that Parexel violated

Section 8(a)(1) of the National Labor Relations Act when it discharged Neuschafer from
employment on August 10, 2006. See Parexel Int’l, LLC & Theresa Neuschafer, Case 5—
CA-33245, 356 NLRB No. 82 (Jan. 28, 2011). Because, for purposes of our consideration of
the ALJ’s granting of Parexel’s Motions to Dismiss, we accept as true the facts presented in
the complaints, we do not take judicial notice of any facts presented during Neuschafer’s
NLRB proceedings.
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she was terminated because she was ‘not a team player.”” Sylvester Complaint ] 43.
Jones discharged Neuschafer on August 10, 2006. Jones stated that “the reason for
termination was that Neuschafer’s personality did not fit in.” Neuschafer Complaint q
46.

Sylvester and Neuschafer filed separate complaints with OSHA on September 11,
2006, and October 30, 2006, respectively. The complaints state that Parexel violated the
SOX by discharging each of them in retaliation for informing Parexel managers about
fraudulent acts other Parexel employees committed. They indicate that:

By covering up clinical research fraud, by violating its
Code of Business Ethics, and by failing to disclose
fraudulent data to the FDA and to the sponsor of the
clinical study, Parexel engaged in a fraud against its
shareholders, financial institutions, and others . . . to
maximize short-term revenue from the tarnished clinical
study at the expense of the long-term financial performance
of the company . . . at a time when he knew that disclosure
of this fraudulent data would have significantly reduced
Parexel’s revenue and reputation . . . to ensure that its
officers would earn compensation related to economic
performance, that stock options and other stock-based
compensation would be maximized, and a wide range of
related conduct all based on fraudulent data and the failure
to report this material information of clinical fraud in these
studies.

Sylvester Complaint {{ 46-49; Neuschafer Complaint ] 52-55.

The Complainants’ OSHA complaints allege that, prior to their discharge,
Sylvester and Neuschafer provided information to Parexel about conduct that they
believed constituted actual or potential mail or wire fraud, and fraud against shareholders.
Sylvester Complaint ] 20, 21, 39, 46, 47, 48, 49 & 50; Neuschafer Complaint {{ 24, 25,
38, 41, 52, 53, 54 & 55. Both complaints also state that “[v]iolation[s] of GCP could

constitute a violation of Federal law including . . . 18 U.S.C. 1344 (financial institution
fraud) or other federal or state law.” Sylvester Complaint { 12; Neuschafer Complaint q
10

4 Sylvester’s complaint also states that “[t]he conduct by Ms. Sylvester set forth above

constituted protected activity under SOX in that she provided to her employer information
relating to conduct which she reasonably believed constituted a violation of 18 U.S.C.
Sections 1341, 1343, 1344, 1348, any rule or regulation of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or any provision of Federal law relating to fraud against shareholders.”
Sylvester Complaint,  45.
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The Complainants also allege that Parexel “knowingly failed to comply with its
Business Code of Ethics, an internal control relied upon by both its auditors and
shareholders,” and that such failure “renders the signature of its Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer on its annual report a violation of the Securities and
Exchange Act and SOX.” Sylvester Complaint, | 56; Neuschafer Complaint, { 60.

OSHA dismissed both complaints, and the Complainants requested a hearing
before an ALJ. Prior to a hearing, Parexel filed separate Motions to Dismiss the
Complaints pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1), arguing that the complaints’ allegations
“do not fall within the closely prescribed subject matter jurisdiction authorized by
Congress for the Department of Labor to hear SOX complaints.” See, e.g., Respondent’s
Motion to Dismiss (Complaint of Theresa Neuschafer) at 3. Parexel also requested
dismissal pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), arguing that the complaints fail to state a
claim upon which relief can be granted. See, e.g., Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss
(Complaint of Kathy J. Sylvester) at 4-5. The Complainants responded by submitting a
Consolidated Reply to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss Their Respective Complaints.

Pursuant to a Decision and Order (D. & O.) issued on August 31, 2007, the ALJ
granted the Respondent’s Motions to Dismiss pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1),
holding that the Complainants’ complaints failed “on their face to establish subject matter
jurisdiction under the Act.” D. & O. at 12. Based on the allegations of the Sylvester and
Neuschafer complaints, the ALJ concluded that neither had engaged in SOX-protected
activity. The ALJ cited, specifically, the Complainants’ failure to establish that the
concerns they had raised with Parexel, for which they sought whistleblower protection,
(1) “definitively and specifically” related to a violation of any of the laws covered by
SOX Section 806, (2) involved an actual violation by Parexel of any of the laws
enumerated in Section 806, (3) involved shareholder fraud, fraud generally, or were
otherwise adverse to shareholders’ interests, or (4) constituted reasonable concerns about
SOX violations. D. & O. at 9-12.

JURISDICTION AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Congress authorized the Secretary of Labor to issue final agency decisions with
respect to claims of discrimination and retaliation filed under the SOX. 18 U.S.C.A. §
1514A(b). The Secretary has delegated that authority to the Administrative Review
Board. Secretary’s Order No. 1-2010 (Delegation of Authority and Assignment of
Responsibility to the Administrative Review Board), 75 Fed. Reg. 3924 (Jan. 15, 2010).
See 29 C.F.R. § 1980.110(a). The Board reviews the ALJ’s findings of fact under the
substantial evidence standard. 29 C.F.R. § 1980.110(b). The Board reviews questions of
law de novo. See Simpson v. United Parcel Serv., ARB No. 06-065, ALJ No. 2005-AIR-
031, slip op. at 4 (ARB Mar. 14, 2008).
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DISCUSSION

For the following reasons, we find that subject matter jurisdiction clearly existed
in this case, and the ALJ erred when he dismissed these cases pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P.
12(b)(1). However, a remand on that basis alone would not move this case forward
because, as discussed below, we disagree with a number of the ALJ’s conclusions
regarding a complainant’s burden to establish protected activity under SOX Section 806,
which the ALJ made in the course of his finding of no subject matter jurisdiction.
Consequently, in addition to addressing the propriety of the ALJ’s dismissal for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction, we address: (1) the pleading standard applicable to SOX
cases; (2) the requirements necessary for establishing the reasonableness of an
employee’s belief that the conduct of which he or she complains violates the laws
identified under Section 806; (3) whether the ALJ erred by requiring the Complainants to
describe protected activity in their complaints that related “definitively and specifically”
to the laws identified in Section 806; (4) whether, for an employee to establish that he or
she engaged in Section 806 whistleblower-protected activity, it is necessary in all
instances to establish that the activity of which the employee complains involved
shareholder fraud, fraud generally, or that the complained-of activity materially affected
shareholders’ interests; and (5) where the complained-of activity involves allegations of
fraud, whether it is necessary that the employee establish all elements necessary to the
proof of such fraud. First, we address the issue of subject matter jurisdiction.

A. Governing Law

Congress enacted the SOX on July 30, 2002, as part of a comprehensive effort to
address corporate fraud. The SOX whistleblower protections were included in response
to “a culture, supported by law, that discourage[s] employees from reporting fraudulent
behavior not only to the proper authorities . . . but even internally. This ‘corporate code
of silence’ not only hampers investigations, but also creates a climate where ongoing
wrongdoing can occur with virtual impunity.” S. Rep. No. 107-146, at 5 (2002).

SOX Title VIII is designated the Corporate and Criminal Fraud Accountability
Act of 2002 (the Accountability Act). Section 806, the SOX’s employee-protection
provision, prohibits covered employers and individuals from retaliating against
employees for providing information or assisting in investigations related to certain
fraudulent acts. That provision states:

(a) Whistleblower Protection For Employees Of Publicly Traded
Companies.— No company with a class of securities registered
under section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15
U.S.C. 781), or that is required to file reports under section 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 780(d)), or
any officer, employee, contractor, subcontractor, or agent of such
company, may discharge, demote, suspend, threaten, harass, or in
any other manner discriminate against an employee in the terms
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and conditions of employment because of any lawful act done by
the employee—

(1) to provide information, cause information to be provided, or
otherwise assist in an investigation regarding any conduct
which the employee reasonably believes constitutes a
violation of section 1341 [mail fraud], 1343 [wire, radio, TV
fraud], 1344 [bank fraud], or 1348 [securities fraud], any rule
or regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or
any provision of Federal law relating to fraud against
shareholders, when the information or assistance is provided
to or the investigation is conducted by—

(A) a Federal regulatory or law enforcement agency; (B)
any Member of Congress or any committee of Congress; or (C) a
person with supervisory authority over the employee (or such
other person working for the employer who has the authority to
investigate, discover, or terminate misconduct); or

(2) to file, cause to be filed, testify, participate in, or otherwise
assist in a proceeding filed or about to be filed (with any
knowledge of the employer) relating to an alleged violation of
section 1341, 1343, 1344, or 1348, any rule or regulation of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or any provision of
Federal law relating to fraud against shareholders.

18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A.5

Section 806 was first introduced as part of the Accountability Act, and the
Conference Committee added it to the final version of the SOX bill. It is but one part of a
comprehensive law ensuring corporate responsibility. Congress added whistleblower
protection provisions to the SOX as a “crucial” component for “restoring trust in the
financial markets by ensuring that corporate fraud and greed may be better detected,
prevented and prosecuted.” S. Rep. 107-146 at 2 (May 6, 2002); see, e.g., Johnson v.
Siemens Bldg. Techs., ARB No. 08-032, ALJ No. 2005-SOX-015, slip op. at 12 (ARB
Mar. 31, 2011).

The legal burdens of proof set forth in the employee protection provision of the
Wendell H. Ford Aviation Investment and Reform Act for the 21st Century (AIR 21)
govern SOX Section 806 actions. Accordingly, to prevail on a SOX claim, a complainant

> During the pendency of this appeal, on July 21, 2010, the President signed into law

the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank Act), Pub. L.
111-203, 124 Stat 1376 (2010). Section 929A of the Dodd-Frank Act amended SOX Section

806, but that amendment is not relevant to this case.
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must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that: (1) he or she engaged in activity or
conduct that the SOX protects; (2) the respondent took unfavorable personnel action
against him or her; and (3) the protected activity was a contributing factor in the adverse
personnel action. ®

As noted above, the ALJ concluded that the Complainants’ OSHA complaints
failed to indicate that the Complainants engaged in SOX-protected activity prior to their
discharge. We now address the procedural and substantive errors the ALJ committed in
reaching this conclusion.

B. The ALJ Erred by Ruling that the Complainants’ OSHA Complaints Should be
Dismissed Pursuant to Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure

1. The ALJ Had Subject Matter Jurisdiction Over the Complaints

The ALJ expressly contemplated whether to address Parexel’s Motions as factual
challenges to subject matter jurisdiction over the Complainants’ claims pursuant to Fed.
R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1). D. & O. at 2-3. He described the issue before him as “[w]hether
Complainants have alleged facts which establish protected activity within the scope of the
Act and jurisdiction over the subject matter in this tribunal as a matter of law.” Id. at 3.
And he ultimately concluded that “Respondent’s motion under Rule 12(b)(1) for
dismissal of the consolidated complaints for failure of the pleadings on their face to
establish subject matter jurisdiction under the Act should be granted.” Id. at 12. We
disagree, because subject matter jurisdiction clearly existed in this case.

Subject matter jurisdiction “refers to a tribunal’s power to hear a case.” Morrison
v. Nat’l Australian Bank, 130 S. Ct. 2869, 2877 (2010) (citing Union Pacific v. Bhd. of
Locomotive Eng’rs, 130 S .Ct. 584, 596-97 (2009)). Subject matter jurisdiction “presents
an issue quite separate from the question whether the allegations the plaintiff makes
entitles him to relief,” Morrison, 130 S. Ct. at 2877,” and thus under the whistleblower
laws over which the Department of Labor has jurisdiction, should not be confused “with
the wholly separate question whether [a complainant’s] actions might be covered as
‘protected activities.”” Sasse v U.S. Dept. of Justice, ARB No. 99-053, ALJ No. 1998-
CAA-007, slip op. at 3 (ARB Aug. 31, 2000).

Similar to federal complaints based on federal question jurisdiction, the burden of
establishing subject matter jurisdiction under Section 806 is not particularly onerous.
See, e.g., Turner/Ozanne v. Hyman/Power, 111 F.3d 1312, 1317 (7th Cir. 1997); Musson

6 49 U.S.C.A. § 42121; see 18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A(b)(2)(C).
! For example, in Robinson v. Overseas Military Sales Corp., 21 F.3d. 502 (2d Cir.
1994) (cited by the ALJ in this case), the court dismissed an FTCA tort claim for lack of
subject matter jurisdiction because the plaintiff had failed to first file his claim
administratively, a jurisdictional prerequisite to filing in federal court.
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Theatrical, 89 F.3d 1244, 1248 (6th Cir. 1996). As the Board explained in Sasse, the
Department of Labor’s subject matter jurisdiction is invoked “when the parties are
properly before it, the proceeding is of a kind or class which the court is authorized to
adjudicate, and the claim set forth in the paper writing invoking the court’s action is not
obviously frivolous.” Sasse, slip op. at 3 (quoting West Coast Exploration Co. v. McKay,
213 F.2d 582, 591 (D.C. Cir.), cert. denied, 347 U.S. 989 (1954)). And the Supreme
Court has explained that:

[Subject matter] [jlurisdiction . . . is not defeated . . . by the
possibility that the averments might fail to state a cause of
action on which petitioners could actually recover. For it is
well settled that the failure to state a proper cause of action
calls for a judgment on the merits and not for a dismissal
for want of jurisdiction. Whether the complaint states a
cause of action on which relief could be granted is a
question of law and just as issues of fact it must be decided
after and not before the court has assumed jurisdiction over
the controversy. If the court does later exercise its
jurisdiction to determine that the allegations in the
complaint do not state a ground for relief, then dismissal of
the case would be on the merits, not for want of
jurisdiction.

Bell v. Hood, 327 U.S. 678, 681-82 (1946), (citing Swafford v. Templeton, 185 U.S. 487,
493-494, 22 S. Ct. 783, 785-786 (1902)).

Here, subject matter jurisdiction was clear. The ALJ’s subject matter jurisdiction
to hear SOX whistleblower complaints exists pursuant to the Secretary of Labor’s
delegation of her hearing and adjudication authority under 18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A(b) to
Department of Labor Administrative Law Judges.® By filing complaints alleging that
Parexel violated the SOX by discharging them from employment, Sylvester and
Neuschafer properly invoked the Department of Labor’s jurisdiction to adjudicate their
complaints. We therefore conclude that the ALJ erred by granting Parexel’s Motions to
Dismiss “for failure of the pleadings on their face to establish subject matter jurisdiction.”
D. & O. at 12.

While the ALJ erred in dismissing the Complainants’ complaints pursuant to Rule
12(b)(1), the ALJ’s analysis actually involved a determination of whether the allegations
of the consolidated complaints established that the Complainants engaged in SOX-

8 See 18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A(b) (authorizing the Secretary of Labor to hear SOX
whistleblower complaints), 29 C.F.R. §§ 1980.106, 1980.107 (delegating the Secretary’s
hearing and adjudication authority to Department ALJs). See also, 69 Fed. Reg. 52104-01
(Aug. 24, 2004) (“Responsibility for receiving and investigating these complaints has been
delegated to the Assistant Secretary for OSHA; Secretary’s Order 5-2002, 67 Fed. Reg.
65008 (Oct. 22, 2002)).
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protected whistleblower activity. There is nothing in the ALJ’s analysis that turned on
the mistake of dismissing the case for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. Consequently,
rather than remanding because of this mistake, which would merely require upon remand
affixing “a new Rule 12(b)(6) label for the same Rule 12(b)(1) conclusion,” Morrison,
130 S. Ct. at 2877, we proceed to address whether the ALJ’s conclusion that the
Complainants failed to engage in SOX-protected activity is sustainable.

2. The Heightened Pleading Standards Established in Federal Courts Do Not
Apply to SOX Claims Initiated With OSHA

The ALJ noted that Parexel also moved for dismissal of the complaints pursuant
to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) “for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.”
D. & O. at 2. He reviewed the allegations contained in the complaints and concluded that
Parexel was entitled to dismissal because neither Sylvester not Neuschafer had engaged
in SOX-protected activity prior to their discharge. We disagree with this conclusion
because Sylvester and Neuschafer have provided sufficient allegations of SOX-protected
activity to proceed with their complaints.

A SOX claim begins with OSHA, where “no particular form of complaint” is
required, except that it must be in writing and “should contain a full statement of the acts
and omissions, with pertinent dates, which are believed to constitute the violations.” 29
C.F.R. § 1980.103(b). OSHA then has a duty, if appropriate, to interview the
complainant to supplement a complaint that lacked a prima facie claim. 29 C.F.R. §
1980.104(b)(1). If the complaint, as supplemented, alleges a prima facie claim, then
OSHA initiates an investigation to determine whether a violation occurred.

At some point, OSHA must decide if the complainant has stated a prima facie
complaint. When OSHA finishes its investigation and makes a decision, either party may
object and ask for a hearing before a Department of Labor Administrative Law Judge .
29 C.F.R. § 1980.106. In contrast, in federal court, a plaintiff files a formal complaint
and serves the defendant with a complaint, which is measured against the requirements of
Rules 8 and 9 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. Upon the filing of the federal
complaint, the defendant may immediately challenge the sufficiency of the pleadings
through Rule 12, without waiting for any supplementation.

Two United States Supreme Court cases, Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S.
544 (2007) and Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. ----, 129 S .Ct. 1937 (2009) have heightened
the pleading requirements established in the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. In those
cases, the Supreme Court interpreted Rule 8 to mean that the “[f]actual allegations must
be enough to raise a right to relief above the speculative level” and must be sufficient “to
state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 570. “A claim
has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleads factual content that allows the court to
draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”
Igbal, 129 S. Ct. at 1949.
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The ALJ applied this heightened standard to evaluate the allegations of the
complaints in this case. But this standard should not be applied to SOX whistleblower
claims because the Twombly and Igbal decisions involve cases in which the procedural
requirements are not analogous to cases arising under the SOX’s employee-protection
provision. Given the procedural paradigm under which SOX complainants begin, SOX
complainants would have to be mindful of these pleading requirements when they file a
written statement with OSHA, knowing that their original complaint will be forwarded to
an ALJ if a hearing is requested. Essentially, SOX complainants would be required to
file the equivalent of a federal court complaint when they initiate contact with OSHA.’
This contravenes the expressed duty that OSHA has to interview the complainant and
attempt to supplement the complaint.

ALJs are entitled to manage their caseloads and decide whether a particular case
is so meritless on its face that it should be dismissed in the interest of justice. But SOX
claims are rarely suited for Rule 12 dismissals. They involve inherently factual issues
such as “reasonable belief” and issues of “motive.” In addition, we believe ALJs should
freely grant parties the opportunity to amend their initial filings to provide more
information about their complaint before the complaint is dismissed, and dismissals
should be a last resort. Dismissal is even less appropriate when the parties submit
additional documents that justify an amendment or further evidentiary analysis under 29
C.F.R. § 18.40 (ALJ Rule 18.40), the ALJ rule governing motions for summary decision,
which is analogous to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56 (summary judgment). As described below, it is
clear that both Complainants in this case have exceeded the pleading requirements
established by the laws and regulations governing the SOX.

Rule 12 motions challenging the sufficiency of the pleadings are highly
disfavored by the SOX regulations and highly impractical under the Office of
Administrative Law Judge (OALJ) rules. The OALJ rules do not contain a rule
analogous to Rule 12, but instead allow parties to seek prehearing determinations
pursuant to ALJ Rule 18.40. We therefore conclude that the heightened pleading
standards established in federal courts do not apply to the Complainants’ complaints, and
those complaints require further analysis pursuant to ALJ Rule 18.40 or an evidentiary
hearing on the merits.'

K The Department of Labor expressly rejected such a heightened standard at the

complaint stage when it promulgated the SOX’s regulations. See Department of Labor Rules
and Regulations: Procedures for the Handling of Discrimination Complaints under Section
806 of the Corporate and Criminal Fraud Accountability Act of 2002, Title VII of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 29 C.F.R. Part 1980, 69 Fed. Reg. 52104, 52106 (Aug. 24,
2004) (“OSHA believes that it would be overly restrictive to require a complaint to include
detailed analyses when the purpose of the complaint is to trigger an investigation to
determine whether evidence of discrimination exists.”).

10 Because this appeal arises under the SOX, our holding that the heightened pleading
standards are inapplicable is limited to SOX cases. We do not, at this time, reconsider the
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C. A Complainant Need Only Express a “Reasonable Belief” of a Violation to
Engage in a SOX-Protected Activity

In dismissing the Complainants’ complaints, the ALJ cited to a number of cases
issued by this Board and the federal courts discussing SOX-protected activity. But in
doing so, the ALJ failed to acknowledge the basic requirements for establishing protected
activity described in the statute itself.

The SOX’s plain language provides the proper standard for establishing protected
activity. To sustain a complaint of having engaged in SOX-protected activity, where the
complainant’s asserted protected conduct involves providing information to one’s
employer, the complainant need only show that he or she “reasonably believes” that the
conduct complained of constitutes a violation of the laws listed at Section 1514. 18
U.S.C.A. § 1514A(a)(1). The Act does not define “reasonable belief,” but the legislative
history establishes Congress’s intention in adopting this standard. Senate Report 107-
146, which accompanied the adoption of Section 806, provides that “a reasonableness test
is also provided . . . which is intended to impose the normal reasonable person standard
used and interpreted in a wide variety of legal contexts (See generally, Passaic Valley
Sewerage Commissioners v. Department of Labor, 992 F. 2d 474, 478).” S. Rep. 107-
146 at 19 (May 6, 2002).

Both before and since Congress enacted the SOX, the ARB has interpreted the
concept of “reasonable belief” to require a complainant to have a subjective belief that
the complained-of conduct constitutes a violation of relevant law, and also that the belief
is objectively reasonable, “i.e. he must have actually believed that the employer was in
violation of an environmental statute and that belief must be reasonable for an individual
in [the employee’s] circumstances having his training and experience.” Melendez v.
Exxon Chems., ARB No. 96-051, ALJ No. 1993-ERA-006, slip op. at 28 (ARB July 14,
2000); see also, Brown v. Wilson Trucking Corp., ARB No. 96-164, ALJ No. 1994-STA-
054, slip op. at 2 (ARB Oct. 25, 1996)(citing Yellow Freight Sys., Inc. v. Reich, 38 F.3d
76, 82 (2d Cir. 1994)).

To satisfy the subjective component of the “reasonable belief” test, the employee
must actually have believed that the conduct he complained of constituted a violation of
relevant law. Harp v. Charter Commc’ns, 558 F.3d 722, 723 (7th Cir. 2009). “[T]he
legislative history of Sarbanes-Oxley makes clear that its protections were ‘intended to
include all good faith and reasonable reporting of fraud, and there should be no
presumption that reporting is otherwise.”” Van Asdale v. Int’l Game Tech., 577 F.3d 989,
1002 (9th Cir. 2009)(citing 148 Cong. Rec. S7418-01, S7420 (daily ed. July 26, 2002)).
“Subjective reasonableness requires that the employee ‘actually believed the conduct
complained of constituted a violation of pertinent law.”” Day v. Staples, Inc., 555 F.3d
42, 54 n.10 (quoting Welch v. Chao, 536 F.3d 269, 277 n.4 (4th Cir. 2008)). In this

application of these pleading requirements to cases arising under other whistleblower statutes
over which we have authority to make final agency decisions.
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regard, “the plaintiff’s particular educational background and sophistication [is]
relevant.” Id.

The second element of the “reasonable belief” standard, the objective component,
“is evaluated based on the knowledge available to a reasonable person in the same factual
circumstances with the same training and experience as the aggrieved employee.” Harp,
558 F.3d at 723. “The ‘objective reasonableness’ standard applicable in SOX
whistleblower claims is similar to the ‘objective reasonableness’ standard applicable to
Title VII retaliation claims.” Allen v. Admin. Rev. Board, 514 F.3d 468, 477 (5th Cir.
2008) (citing Turner v. Baylor Richardson Med. Ctr., 476 F.3d 337, 348 (5th Cir. 2007)).
Accordingly, in Parexel Int’l Corp. v. Feliciano, 2008 WL 5467609 (E.D. Pa. 2008), the
court found the complainant’s reliance upon the employer’s representations reasonable in
light of the complainant’s limited education, noting that had the complainant been, for
example, a legal expert, a higher standard might be appropriate. See also Sequeira v. KB
Home, 2009 WL 6567043, at 10 (S.D. Tx. 2009) (“The statute does not require, as
Defendants suggest, that the whistleblower have a specific expertise.”).

The reasonable belief standard requires an examination of the reasonableness of a
complainant’s beliefs, but not whether the complainant actually communicated the
reasonableness of those beliefs to management or the authorities. See, e.g., Knox v. U.S.
Dept. of Labor, 434 F.3d 721, 725 (4th Cir. 2006). In Knox, the Fourth Circuit reversed
the Board’s misapplication of the reasonable belief standard to require that a complainant
actually convey the reasonable belief to management. Certainly, those communications
may provide evidence of reasonableness or causation, but a complainant need not
actually convey reasonable belief to his or her employer. See, e.g., Collins, 334 F. Supp.
2d 1365, 1377-78 (N.D. Ga. 2004) (it is sufficient that the recipients of the
whistleblower’s disclosures understood the seriousness of the disclosures).

Often the issue of “objective reasonableness” involves factual issues and cannot
be decided in the absence of an adjudicatory hearing. See, e.g., Allen, 514 F.3d at 477-
478 (“the objective reasonableness of an employee’s belief cannot be decided as a matter
of law if there is a genuine issue of material fact”); Welch, 536 F.3d at 278 (“objective
reasonableness is a mixed question of law and fact” and thus subject to resolution as a
matter of law “if the facts cannot support a verdict for the non-moving party.”);
Livingston v. Wyeth Inc., 520 F.3d 344, 361 (4th Cir. 2008) (Judge Michael, dissenting)
(“The issue of objective reasonableness should be decided as a matter of law only when
‘no reasonable person could have believed’ that the facts amounted to a violation. . . .
However, if reasonable minds could disagree about whether the employee’s belief was
objectively reasonable, the issue cannot be decided as a matter of law” [citations
omitted])).

We believe that such a mistake has been made in this case. The ALJ completely
discounted as “irrelevant and immaterial” what the Complainants “might have believed
or been told by Respondent regarding any relationship of such false [FDA] reporting to
SOX.” D. & O. at 10. In doing so, the ALJ precluded the Complainants from presenting
evidence regarding the reasonableness of their alleged protected activities. And as noted
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above, the complaints in this case present several accusations regarding Parexel’s
business practices and its failure to disclose deficiencies in those practices. Such
accusations may be objectively reasonable to employees with the same training and
experience as Sylvester and Neuschafer. Because a determination regarding the
reasonableness of the Complainants’ alleged protected activities requires an examination
of facts, it was inappropriate for the ALJ to rule on that activity pursuant to the Motions
to Dismiss.

D. Protected Activity Need Not Describe an Actual Violation of the Law

The ALIJ held that the Complainants’ concerns about Parexel’s actions needed to
involve an actual violation of the laws under SOX, and ‘“‘until enforcement action is
taken,” allegations that Parexel engaged in fraud *“are speculative and are deemed
insufficiently material to [Parexel’s] financial picture to form a basis for securities fraud
or to affect shareholders investment decisions.” D. & O. at 11, n.5. This constitutes error
because the ALJ required not only a specific reference to fraud, but also reference to an
illegal act that had already taken place.

A whistleblower complaint concerning a violation about to be committed is
protected as long as the employee reasonably believes that the violation is likely to
happen. Such a belief must be grounded in facts known to the employee, but the
employee need not wait until a law has actually been broken to safely register his or her
concern. See, e.g., Melendez, ARB No. 96-051, slip op. at 21 (“It is also well established
that the protection afforded whistleblowers who raise concerns regarding statutory
violations is contingent on meeting the aforementioned ‘reasonable belief” standard rather
than proving that actual violations have occurred.”); Crosby v. Hughes Aircraft Co.,
1985-TSC-002, slip op. at 14 (Sec’y Aug. 17, 1993) (required is reasonable belief that the
employer “was violating or about to violate the environmental acts”). Accord Yellow
Freight Sys., Inc. v. Martin, 954 F.2d 353, 357 (6th Cir. 1992) (protection under Surface
Transportation Assistance Act not dependent upon whether complainant proves a safety
violation); Collins, 334 F. Supp. 2d at 1376.

Consistent with this line of authority, the ARB has held that an employee’s
whistleblower communication is protected where based on a reasonable, but mistaken,
belief that the employer’s conduct constitutes a violation of one of the six enumerated
categories of law under Section 806. See, e.g., Halloum v. Intel Corp., ARB No. 04-068,
ALJ No. 2003-SOX-007, slip op. at 6 (ARB Jan. 31, 2006).

The Fourth Circuit held in Welch that the SOX did not require an employee to
complain of an actual violation of a listed law to engage in protected activity. 536 F.3d
at 277. Moreover, the court noted, such a requirement would conflict with ARB and
court rulings that have held that Section 806 protects an employee’s communications if
“based on a reasonable, but mistaken, belief that conduct constitutes a securities
violation.” Id. The Fifth Circuit agrees. See, e.g., Allen, 514 F.3d at 476-77 (an
employee’s reasonable belief about a violation is protected even if the belief is mistaken
and an actual violation never occurs). We therefore conclude that the ALJ erred by
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requiring Sylvester and Neuschafer to describe in their OSHA complaints illegal acts that
had already taken place when they complained to Parexel management.

E. The ALJ Erred by Applying the “Definitive and Specific” Evidentiary Standard
Established in Prior Cases

The ALJ also held that, “[u]ntil the [Complainants’] allegedly protected activities
are shown to have a sufficiently definitive and specific relationship to any of the listed
categories of fraud or securities violations under 18 U.S.C. § 1514A(a)(1), what
Complainants might have believed or been told by Respondent regarding any relationship
of such false reporting to SOX is irrelevant and immaterial to the legal sufficiency of
their complaints under SOX.” D. & O. at 10. In support of this conclusion, the ALJ cites
to cases using the words “definitive and specific” or “definitively and specifically” in
determining whether a complainant engaged in SOX-protected activity. But in relying
upon those words to reject the Complainants’ complaints, the ALJ failed to focus on the
plain language of the SOX whistleblower protection provision, which protects “all good
faith and reasonable reporting of fraud.” 148 Cong. Rec. S7418-01, S7420 (daily ed. July
26, 2002); see, e.g., Van Asdale, 577 F.3d at 1002.

The use of the words “definitively and specifically” in whistleblower retaliation
cases can be traced back to cases arising under the Energy Reorganization Act, 42
U.S.C.A. § 5851 (ERA). The ERA protects specific activities including notifying one’s
employer of an alleged violation of the ERA or the Atomic Energy Act (AEA), refusing
to engage in activities prohibited under the AEA, or testifying before Congress regarding
any provision of the ERA or the AEA. See 42 U.S.C.A. § 5851(a)(1)(A)-(D). In
addition, the ERA includes a catch-all provision that protects employees who, among
other things, assist or participate in “a proceeding ... or any other action [designed] to
carry out the purposes of this chapter or the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended.”
42 U.S.C.A. § 5851(a)(1)(F).

The ERA does not define the phrase “any other action to carry out the purposes of
this chapter” as set forth in subsection (F). Consequently, the courts construed the phrase
as requiring, in light of the ERA’s overarching purpose of protecting acts implicating
nuclear safety, that an employee’s actions implicate safety “definitively and specifically”
to constitute whistleblower protected activity under subsection (F). See, e.g., Am.
Nuclear Res. v. U.S. Dept. of Labor, 134 F.3d 1292, 1295 (6th Cir. 1998), citing Bechtel
Constr. Co. v. Sec’y of Labor, 50 F.3d 926, 931 (11th Cir. 1995); see also Stone &
Webster v. Herman, 115 F.3d 1568, 1575 (11th Cir. 1997).

The SOX whistleblower protection provision contains no similar language, and
instead expressly identifies the several laws to which it applies.'"" Thus, importation of

1 The closest to a “catch-all” provision under Section 1514A is the reference to “any

provision of Federal law relating to fraud against shareholders.” Nevertheless, this proviso is
far more specific and its wording significantly different from the ERA’s “catch-all” provision
found at 42 U.S.C.A. § 5851(a)(1)(F).
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the standard applied to derive meaning from subsection (F) is inapposite to the question
of what constitutes protected activity under SOX’s whistleblower protection provision.
Not only is it inappropriate, but it also presents a potential conflict with the express
statutory authority of § 1514A, which prohibits a publicly traded company from
discharging or in any other manner discriminating against an employee for providing
information regarding conduct that the employee “reasonably believes” constitutes a
SOX violation.

Nevertheless, to determine whether the complainant engaged in SOX-protected
activity, the Board, in Platone v. FLYi, Inc., ARB No. 04-154, ALJ No. 2003-SOX-27
(Sept. 29, 2006), imposed the requirement from ERA case law requiring that the
complainant establish that the activity or conduct for which protection is claimed
“definitively and specifically” relates to one or more of the laws listed under §
1514A(a)(1).12 The Platone test has been followed in a number of ARB decisions," and
deferred to on appeal in several circuit court decisions with neither reflection nor further
analysis of the term’s origin or correct application. See, e.g., Allen v. Admin. Rev. Board,
514 F.3d 468 (5th Cir. 2008). We find that the standard announced in Platone has
evolved into an inappropriate test and is often applied too strictly. This case is an
example.

In Livingston, the Fourth Circuit considered the question of whether the
complainant had engaged in SOX-protected activity without reference to the “definitively
and specifically” standard.'* Other circuits that have similarly determined whether the
complainant had set forth an adequate showing of protected activity without reference to
the “definitively and specifically” standard include the Seventh Circuit in Harp, the First
Circuit in Day, the Eleventh in Gale v. Dept. of Labor, 2010 WL 2543138 (11th Cir.,

12 Platone incorporated the “definitively and specifically” test from the Board’s

decision in Kester v. Carolina Power & Light Co., ARB No. 02-007, ALJ No. 2000-ERA-
031 (Sept. 30, 2003), an ERA case which adopted the “definitively and specifically” test
articulated in American Nuclear Res., Inc. v. U.S. Dept. of Labor, 134 F.3d 1292 (6th Cir.
1998).

13 See, e.g., Joy v. Robbins & Myers, ARB No. 08-049, ALJ No. 2007-SOX-074 (ARB
Oct. 29, 2009); Smith v. Hewlett Packard, ARB No. 06-064, ALJ Nos. 2005-SOX-088
through -092 (ARB Apr. 29, 2008); Harvey v. Home Depot USA, ARB No. 04-114, ALJ No.
2004-SOX-020, -036 (ARB June 2, 2006).

4 The Board is aware of the fact that, in Livingston, the Fourth Circuit found that
Livingston, an employee of a drug manufacturer, did not engage in SOX-protected activity
when he complained that his employer failed to properly implement manufacturing-process
training that the FDA mandated. 520 F. 3d at 345-46. But Livingston was a case that was
heard on the merits, and the infractions Parexel allegedly committed differ from those alleged
against the employer in Livingston.
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June 25, 2010) (unpublished), and the Eighth Circuit in Pearl v. DST Syst., Inc., 2010 WL
27066 (8th Cir. Jan. 7, 2010) (unpublished).

As we indicated above, the critical focus is on whether the employee reported
conduct that he or she reasonably believes constituted a violation of federal law.
“Congress chose statutory language which ensures that ‘an employee’s reasonable but
mistaken belief that an employer engaged in conduct that constitutes a violation of one of
the six enumerated categories is protected.”” Van Asdale, 577 F.3d at 1001 (quoting
Allen, 514 F.3d at 477).

The issue before the ALJ here was whether Sylvester and Neuschafer provided
information to Parexel that they reasonably believed related to one of the violations listed
in Section 806, and not whether that information “definitively and specifically” described
one or more of those violations. It was therefore error for the ALJ to dismiss the
complaints in this case for failure to meet a heightened evidentiary standard espoused in
case law but absent from the SOX itself.

F. The ALJ Erred By Concluding that Violations Asserted by SOX Complainants
Must Relate to Fraud Against Shareholders

The ALJ also erred by concluding that the Complainants were not entitled to
relief because “[tlhere is no allegation in the pleadings that Complainants,
notwithstanding their alleged beliefs, expressly referred to fraud, shareholders, securities,
statements to the SEC, or SOX in their reports of false reporting of clinical data in
violation of applicable drug testing protocols made to other employees and supervisors at
Respondent.” D. & O. at 11. This constitutes error because a complaint of shareholder
or investor fraud is not required to establish SOX-protected activity.

The SOX’s legislative history indicates that the Accountability Act was
implemented to address not only securities fraud (in the aftermath of financial scandals
involving Enron, Worldcom, and Arthur Anderson), but also corporate fraud generally.
See S. Rep. No. 107-146, at 2 (May 2, 2002) (“This legislation aims to prevent and
punish corporate and criminal fraud, protect the victims of such fraud, preserve evidence
of such fraud, and hold wrongdoers accountable for their actions.”).

Sections 803, 804, and 807 of the Accountability Act address securities fraud
specifically. But other sections address infractions that do not involve fraud against
shareholders. Section 802 assesses criminal penalties upon persons who alter, destroy,
conceal, or falsify records “with the intent to impede, obstruct, or influence the
investigation or proper administration of any matter within the jurisdiction of any
department or agency of the United States.” 18 U.S.C.A. § 1519. And Section 805
instructs the United States Sentencing Commission to review sentencing guidelines to
ensure that they include enhancements “for cases . . . in which the solvency or financial
security of a substantial number of victims is endangered,” and ensure that those
enhancements are “sufficient to punish and deter criminal misconduct by corporations.”
S. Rep. No. 107-146, at 12-13.
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As indicated above, Section 806 prohibits an employer from retaliating against an
employee who complains about “any conduct which the employee reasonably believes
constitutes a violation of section 1341 [mail fraud], 1343 [wire, radio, TV fraud], 1344
[bank fraud], or 1348 [securities fraud], any rule or regulation of the Securities and
Exchange Commission, or any provision of Federal law relating to fraud against
shareholders.” 18 U.S.C.A. § 1514A. Of these six categories, only the last one refers to
fraud against shareholders. Under the rule of the last antecedent, “a limiting clause or
